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The road to hell is paved with good intentions, and there is no better illustration of this than is to be found in the dealings of the American government and people with the Indians. The Black Hills will send forth their treasures in gold, and the Sioux will scarcely be missed in the march of progress and wealth. But the Anglo-Saxon were a wiser and a better man if he cared a little more for [other] races, and a little less for himself.

— EDWIN CURLEY, Curley’s Guide to the Black Hills

Indians might inhabit the [Black Hills] for centuries and there would be only the change that Nature wrought. But in three short years, the white men have so destroyed its natural attractions that neither Indians nor game would now choose it as an abiding place. The hills are denuded . . . the gulches dug and washed out, and all for the sake of gold that is said to be only lucre, and filthy at that.

— SPECIAL CORRESPONDENT, Green Bay Advocate, May 1, 1879


I have fallen in love with American names,

The sharp names that never get fat,

The snakeskin-titles of mining-claims,

The plumed war-bonnet of Medicine Hat,

Tucson and Deadwood and Lost Mule Flat.

—STEPHEN VINCENT BENÉT, “American Names”
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Prologue


It was high noon, August 2, 1876. James Butler Hickok struggled through the fly-infested slop that passed for Main Street, Deadwood. The name suited the place, an illegal mining settlement perched in the Black Hills, land sacred to the Lakota nation.

Hard eyes stared at Hickok. From cabins and shacks, false-front stores and clapboard saloons, the people watched and wondered. There was no mistaking the slim-waisted, broad-shouldered, and sharply dressed six-footer with the flowing auburn hair and large sandy mustache, or the twin Colt Navy revolvers that he wore, handles forward. His likeness had graced the cover of the nation’s most popular magazine. Dime novels trumpeted his character as the epitome of frontier manhood, and his exploits with knife and gun as unrivaled.

Miners and merchants, gamblers and prostitutes pondered alike. What was “Wild Bill,” the legendary gunslinger reputed to have slain a hundred or more men, doing here? Did the former marshal intend to upset the lawless comfort of their mining camps? Did he intend to pacify the three-month-old town the way he had pacified Abilene, Kansas, in blood?

Hardly. All Wild Bill Hickok wanted to slay was a bottle of whiskey. Drinking, gambling, and a bit of half-hearted prospecting had become Hickok’s routine in the three weeks since he had ridden into Deadwood. He camped in deep brush on the edge of town. Sleeping in shirt, trousers, and boots, that morning he had awoken late from a makeshift bed in a wagon box. Hickok had tossed back a stiff drink or two before a campfire breakfast with his “pard” “Colorado Charlie” Utter and three or four other friends. He’d shaken out his Prince Albert frock coat, emptied his twin Colt Navy revolvers into a cottonwood tree, reloaded and holstered them, finished dressing, donned his trademark black sombrero, and then headed into town.

Hickok bore arms only for self-defense. His days of fast draws and provoking gunfights were over, and he knew it. Although he was just thirty-nine, Hickok’s keen eyesight—an indispensable asset to a gunfighter—was failing him. He wore a dull and listless aspect that his morning brace of whiskey did little to alleviate. Perhaps he might strike gold and grow rich enough to build a home for himself and his wealthy wife. Or the cards might turn in his favor for a change. In any event, pride prevented him from living off his wife’s charity. This was the American West, after all. Deadwood was journey’s end: Hickok would make it there, or not at all.

After traipsing a few hundred viscous yards, Hickok turned left off Main Street and entered the narrow, sixty-foot-deep, hewed pine-log No. 10 Saloon. Inside, he traded the choking stench of offal, animal urine, and manure for the tolerable odor of tobacco and sweat mingled with the sweet scent of pine. The burning gaslight from the saloon’s four chandeliers likely pained his eyes. Squinting at the gamblers, Hickok spotted an empty stool at one of the tables, and he joined the game in progress. Wild Bill wanted the seat against the wall, his preferred spot in any enclosed place, but the young claimant declined to surrender it. The two other players assured him he was among friends. Wild Bill relented. He sat with his back exposed to the rear door. For three hours, the men played intently for gold dust, the chief medium of exchange in Deadwood.

Hickok might have noticed a small and shabby man with a sombrero pulled over his eyes enter the saloon at 3:00 p.m. and sidle toward him along the twenty-foot bar. Wild Bill had beaten him at poker the night before, only to learn that the man’s buckskin bag of gold was too light to cover the bet he had lost. After warning him never again to wager more than he had, Hickok offered the man some loose change with which to buy himself a meal. The man, who went by the alias Bill Sutherland, scorned the money and left.

Now he was back, a .36-caliber cap-and-ball Colt Navy revolver tucked in his pants. It was an old and unreliable firearm, prone to misfiring, but the model was plentiful on the plains and cheap, about all that the twenty-four-year-old drifter, whose real name was Jack McCall, could afford.

McCall ambled toward the gold-dust scale atop the end of the bar. He hesitated a moment, then moved into Wild Bill’s blind spot a few feet from the back door. Hickok tossed his cards onto the table in dismay. “The old duffer,” he said of the player who had just bested him, “he broke me on that hand.” With that, McCall turned, stepped to within two or three feet of Hickok, drew his defective revolver, aimed it at the back of Wild Bill’s head, yelled, “Take that, damn you,” and squeezed the trigger.1

[image: ]

WHY DEADWOOD? What lured people like Wild Bill Hickok to the infant mining town? Hope, greed, and the chance for a fresh start. Three years earlier, the Panic of 1873 had triggered a crippling economic crisis. Industries shuttered. Unemployment skyrocketed. Railroads stood idle. Farm prices tumbled. Midwestern skies blackened with locust swarms of biblical proportion that denuded the land. A decade had passed without a new gold strike, and the nation ached for a bonanza that would offer the chance for renewed prosperity.

In the autumn of 1874, Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong Custer tantalized the public with a glimmer of hope. He had discovered gold in the Black Hills of today’s South Dakota and Wyoming, on land that belonged to the Lakotas by treaty. Lakota rights, however, meant little to the common white man. Quipped one jobless fortune hunter, “A man can’t sit comfortably by the fire when there’s gold in the hills only five hundred miles from his door.”

As hopeful “tenderfeet” flocked into the Black Hills, they gradually coalesced around Deadwood Gulch, which promised the easiest and richest diggings, and its neighboring valleys and creeks. It was a place in which a man could live a decade in a year. Working at a feverish pace, miners extracted hundreds of thousands of dollars in gold from creek beds and gravel deposits. Merchants, gamblers, saloonkeepers, harlots, outlaws, and adventure seekers swarmed to the site. Within five months of the first gold strike, more than two hundred frame and false-front buildings went up, and Deadwood, the raucous center of the Black Hills mining districts, was born.

The country watched the proceedings with fascination both elevated and prurient. The New York Times, Harper’s Weekly, and other leading national organs wrote regularly about Deadwood, and the most popular dime novelist of his day created the enduring fictional character Deadwood Dick to thrill eastern readers with the supposed goings-on in the distant and dangerous Black Hills.

The setting was ideal for adventures. Unique among frontier towns, Deadwood was not merely a place in which outlaws lurked, like Tombstone and Dodge City, but itself an outlaw enterprise, not part of any U.S. territory, nor subject to U.S. laws or governance. Gunfights and vendettas defined the public perception of Dodge City and Tombstone; Deadwood came to represent not only danger but also the dream of amassing great wealth quickly, an allure that neither Dodge City nor Tombstone could replicate. In its early days, Deadwood and its inhabitants were criminal trespassers on land that the federal government had decreed to belong only and forever to American Indians. No other western community grew on such a wobbly foundation.

Deadwood was a blasphemous affront to the Lakotas, as was the entire white presence in the Black Hills. Something had to give. And so, in early 1876, President Ulysses S. Grant schemed to reward the white intruders and wrench the Black Hills from their rightful Indian owners. He and a like-minded government cabal secretly provoked the Great Sioux War, the bloodiest and biggest Indian War in the history of the American West. Deadwood became an island in a sea of hostile Lakotas.

Not surprisingly, Deadwood’s isolation fueled greater lawlessness. But there was a flip side. Seclusion bred self-reliance. It nurtured the better instincts of most Deadwood residents, creating a spirit of cooperation and racial amity unique on the frontier that survived beyond the immediate Indian crisis and came to characterize early Deadwood as profoundly as the fits of violent lawlessness that made it infamous. Decency battled expediency; morality wrestled with the basest vices; whites (including former Civil War combatants from both sides), blacks, and Chinese mingled with an ease uncharacteristic of the day, and roving Indian raiders and prowling stagecoach robbers rendered daily life precarious.

Early Deadwood thus came to embody the best and the worst of the West, and of the American spirit. The three years between its founding and the conflagration that devastated pioneer Deadwood encapsulate the American experience. From its story emerge enduring truths about man’s quest for creating order from chaos, a greater good from individual greed, and security from violence. The fire that destroyed pioneer Deadwood reflected the limits of community and the failure to take action to mitigate future calamities.

The dime-novel version of Deadwood unfortunately overshadowed an ugly reality of which the reader must not lose sight: that both the real Deadwood and the Deadwood of myth were built on land stolen from the Indians, as so much of our romanticism of the West is, retaining its romance and allure only as long as we willfully ignore its foundational sins.

Deadwood: Gold, Guns, and Greed in the American West is the first book dedicated to the story of early Deadwood. It also probes timeless subjects such as race and sex, crime and punishment, religion and recreation, and everyday life in a manner that I hope will immerse readers in the sights, sounds, tastes, and smells of the frontier West. You, the reader, will stand in the shoes of the diverse characters who peopled gold rush Deadwood. You will learn, I trust, how a renegade frontier society stripped to its basics, with no law save self-preservation and no protection but what the community itself could marshal, persevered and prospered.

Tempering that exhilaration is the tragic demise of Lakota Indian society that the white occupation of the Black Hills wrought. A grim undercurrent of a war forced upon them, of bullying treaties that stripped away their land and eroded their way of life, will offer readers a sobering reminder of the high human cost of America’s westward expansion that even the best-intentioned Deadwoodites, (as a local newspaper editor called the townspeople) rarely, if ever, contemplated.

Many of the more noteworthy of Deadwood’s characters, such as the iconic pair Wild Bill Hickok and Martha Jane “Calamity Jane” Canary, will be familiar to viewers of the great and gritty HBO series of the same name or to those with at least a passing knowledge of the American West. In reading these pages, however, they may discover a Wild Bill and Calamity Jane they had not imagined. Other characters will be new to many readers, but no less gripping than their better-known counterparts. The true nature of several of those historic luminaries who made the HBO Deadwood such a resounding commercial and critical success will surprise and captivate readers, as it did me. Their actions helped shape the lore that grew up around the town, and they were in turn shaped by it.

Deadwood, as city-protagonist, is the principal character in this book. It had a life, a spirit, and a soul of its own. Deadwood’s saga is divided into four parts that correspond to the conception, birth, volatile adolescence, and flaming early death of the town as a frontier experiment. Dime novelists and eastern newspapers offered readers a Deadwood of perverse life, evil spirit, and corrupted soul, a nineteenth-century Mammon that fed on the avarice of its inhabitants. That was not surprising; sensational press then as now made good copy. The real Deadwood was a much more complex place.

Though the tumultuous life of the rough-and-tumble Deadwood—the Deadwood of western lore—lasted just three years, from 1876 to 1879, a more event-filled three years in a town’s history would be hard to imagine. Even Deadwoodites of the day remarked that life itself seemed accelerated. In that short span Deadwood bore witness to the most storied assassination in western annals, that of Wild Bill Hickok; the discovery and rise of the largest gold mine in American history; two elections; a parade of colorful prostitutes, gamblers, gunmen, cattle rustlers, and road agents culminating in the most audacious stage robbery in western history; and a fistful of brutal murders. Just as important were the efforts of the lawmen Seth Bullock and Johnny Manning, the businessmen Sol Star and James K. P. Miller, the thespian John Langrishe, and countless others who strove earnestly to bring order and peace to the town.

The Deadwood of today both lives off its legends and seeks to sift the truth from the myths. The many casinos that propel the town’s economy have Wild Bill as their spiritual beacon, just as the town’s brothels, which flourished until federal agents shut them down in 1980, found themselves heir to Calamity Jane and her fellow soiled doves. The tax revenue from the casinos enables projects such as the archaeological excavation of Deadwood’s Chinatown and programs aimed at preserving the true history of the town. Deadwood is fortunate to have in Deadwood History Inc.—with its motto of “Engage. Inspire. Preserve.”—the Centennial Collection at the Deadwood Public Library, and Deadwood’s Historic Preservation Office instruments to preserve and celebrate the town’s past.

There is a wonderful bit of dialogue at the end of John Ford’s towering western The Man Who Shot Liberty Valance in which a credo is spoken that too often has steered the story of the old West. The film’s heroic protagonist, Ransom Stoddard, has just unburdened himself of the unflattering truth behind the legend that propelled him to fame and the front rank of American politics. The newspaperman tears up the exposé that Stoddard has handed him. “So you’re not going to use the story?” asks a perplexed Stoddard. “No, sir,” the journalist replies. “This is the West, sir. When the legend becomes fact, print the legend.”

Deadwood: Gold, Guns, and Greed in the American West prints the facts. I hope you will find, as I did, that the truth about this unique Wild West town makes for more riveting reading than any legend.






Part I
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VISIONS OF DEADWOOD

(ca. 1770—April 1876)
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Pahá Sápa

THE EIGHT-YEAR-OLD Oglala Lakota Indian boy Kahnigapi was no ordinary child. Slender and introspective, he teetered between two worlds. Spectral voices spoke to him. They hinted at numinous secrets, but always stopped short of revealing them. That Kahnigapi should have mystic encounters was expected. He heralded from a long line of healers and intermediaries with the divine (medicine men). His name meant “Chosen.” His cousin Crazy Horse had counseled him to submit to the will of Wakan Tanka, the Great Mystery, whenever it should be made known to him. The vision that struck Kahnigapi in the summer of 1872, however, surpassed in power and breadth what even the most gifted medicine man could ever hope to attain.

First came excruciating pain. Kahnigapi and his family were traveling with their Oglala band alongside the familiar waters of the Greasy Grass (Little Bighorn) River in southeastern Montana, some two hundred miles northwest of the future site of Deadwood, when the boy’s legs buckled. Friends carried him to his parents’ tipi. Kahnigapi’s legs, arms, and face swelled. A high fever gripped him. His head pounded. He felt as if he were burning alive. Then came delirium. As he lay near death, Kahnigapi beheld two celestial warriors. Sweeping down from the clouds, they beckoned the boy to accompany them to the abode of the Six Grandfathers, the heavenly beings who represented the six cardinal directions of Lakota cosmology. Together they embodied Wakan Tanka himself. Riding on a soft white cloud, Kahnigapi penetrated the heart of the Lakota medicine wheel. There he passed through a dizzying array of sacred horses before meeting a bay stallion that carried him to the Grandfathers’ cloud tipi.

The tipi sat behind a rainbow gate atop the highest peak in the Pahá Sápa, or Hills That Are Black—the center of the Lakota world. On the granite crown, the Grandfathers bestowed upon Kahnigapi prophecies of future tribulations—a “fearful road of troubles and of war”—and the gifts that would enable him to save his people from annihilation and return them to the life-sustaining confines of the sacred hoop of harmony.

The vision continued. From Technicolor splendor it swirled toward dreadful anguish. Four times Kahnigapi and his people climbed the peak. Each ascent represented a generation, the Grandfathers told him, the third of which was his. The first ascent was easy. The world was green, and all were happy. The second was steeper, and the Lakotas grew frightened. The third ascent was excruciating, and the people began to scatter. The fourth ascent was unbearable. The buffalo—the lifeblood of his people—vanished, the Lakotas began dying, and a “new strength” emerged. As the vision dissolved, the spiritual messengers returned him to his family’s tipi. His purpose was clear: The Grandfathers had selected Kahnigapi to lead the Lakotas to cultural renewal. As an adult, the chosen boy would be renamed Black Elk. For the remaining seventy-eight years of his life, Black Elk would try to obey the dictates of his vision. In death, he would become revered worldwide as one of the spiritual giants of his day.1

But what was this “new strength” that would penetrate the Pahá Sápa and upend the Lakota world? Young though he was, Kahnigapi sensed the source of the danger. After recovering from his illness, he questioned his grandfather about the coming of the dreaded wasichu, or white men, which Kahnigapi divined was the real subject of his dream. Why, he asked, did the word “wasichu” once refer only to the vast herds of buffalo, but now denoted the whites, who drew ever closer to the Lakota domain?

“Because they are many,” his grandfather replied, too many to count, too many to comprehend.2
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THE LAKOTAS AND their Northern Cheyenne Indian allies knew what the wasichu coveted. It was mázaska, the yellow mineral that the white men “worship and that makes them crazy.” Already gold-and silver-seeking wasichu, suffering from “manias,” “fevers,” and “hysterias,” had wreaked havoc on Native lands from the Rocky Mountains to the Pacific coast. The madness and mayhem began with the California gold rush in 1848. Not only did tens of thousands of gold seekers eradicate the small Indian tribes of California itself, but their caravans also cut long scars across the Lakota country, denuding the landscape and slaughtering game. After California, mineral strikes hopscotched around the West. Each strike brought not only the young male miners themselves but also a bevy of bartenders, gamblers, merchants, prostitutes, and assorted rogues to serve and scam them. Between 1858 and 1861, waves of fortune seekers streamed across the Plains Indian country to new gold diggings in the Colorado Territory, giving rise to the city of Denver and displacing the Cheyennes and Arapahos, many of whom sought succor from the Lakotas. In 1859, an enormous silver and gold strike called the Comstock Lode gave rise to mining camps in what would become western Nevada.

From Arizona to Idaho to inland Washington, large pockets of prospectors mushroomed into new white colonies. Some places prospered and became permanent; others existed only fleetingly. A few miners struck it rich. Thousands more returned home empty-handed or became perpetual wanderers, always hopeful, ever seeking, yet never quite attaining the gold of which they dreamed. A patchwork of settlements blurred the distinction between the “Indian country” west of the Missouri River and the “civilized region” east of it.3

While the wasichu worshippers of mázaska plundered the Rocky Mountain West, the Lakotas expanded their Northern Plains domain. Between 1861 and 1862, they fought a final war with the Crow Indians for control of the Powder River country of present-day northern Wyoming. By the terms of the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1851, to which the United States and all the Plains tribes were parties, the land belonged to the Crows. The 150-mile-wide tract between the Bighorn Mountains and the Black Hills, however, was choice buffalo-hunting ground, and the Lakotas meant to have it. They won it thanks in large measure to the leadership of the forty-year-old Oglala Lakota war leader Red Cloud and the strange and silent young Oglala warrior Crazy Horse, cousin to the boy Kahnigapi, the future Black Elk.

With the defeat of the Crows, the Lakotas thought they had found a home far from grasping whites. In 1862, however, gold was discovered in southwestern Montana Territory. A year later, the frontier entrepreneur John Bozeman blazed an eponymous trail into the Montana diggings along the eastern base of the Bighorn Mountains, straight through the heart of the newly won hunting grounds. White travelers so depleted buffalo and antelope herds that the Lakotas nearly starved during the winter of 1865–66. To prevent their retaliating against Bozeman traffic, the army built two forts on the trail.

The move backfired. Rather than overawe the Indians, the presence of military posts in the Bozeman country infuriated them. Once again led by Red Cloud and Crazy Horse, the Lakotas and their Northern Cheyenne and Arapaho allies bested the army in a two-year-long conflict that came to be called Red Cloud’s War. When rapid progress on the Union Pacific Railroad opened a safe route to the Montana goldfields and adjacent towns, the administration of President Ulysses S. Grant capitulated to Red Cloud’s demand that the army vacate the Powder River country.

In April 1868, federal peace commissioners invited Red Cloud to Fort Laramie, Wyoming, to sign a treaty. Breathtaking in its scope, the accord constituted the government’s blueprint for the Lakota future. Not only did the government close the Bozeman Trail, but it also accorded the Lakotas an immense expanse. Present-day South Dakota west of the Missouri River became the Great Sioux Reservation, for the “absolute and undisturbed use and occupation” of the Lakotas. There the government would build schools and provide rations and annuities for thirty years (later sliced to four years by the Senate); in exchange, the Indians were expected to become tillers of the soil—in other words, “civilized.”

The proposed treaty also granted the Lakotas hunting rights above the North Platte River (roughly the northern half of Nebraska) and in northwestern Kansas so long as there remained enough buffalo there to “justify the chase.” Finally, the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868 contained a vaguely worded clause designating the land north of the North Platte River from the western limit of the reservation to the Bighorn Mountains as unceded Indian territory. Although undefined, the northern boundary of the tract came to be understood, by the government at least, as the Yellowstone River. In its totality, the unceded Indian territory embraced present-day northeastern Wyoming and southeastern Montana. No whites would be permitted to settle there without Lakota permission. Whether Lakotas who wished to live off the hunt rather than the government dole might also reside in the unceded land was left unclear. In any case, the Lakota domain was to be inviolate; the peace permanent. Red Cloud and his fellow chiefs made their marks, and nearly 90 percent of an estimated Lakota population of forty thousand settled on the newly opened Red Cloud or Spotted Tail Agency, together with most of the far smaller Northern Cheyenne and Arapaho peoples. The remaining few thousand Lakotas under Sitting Bull and Crazy Horse scorned the treaty, made their home in unceded territory, and sporadically raided white settlements and Indian enemies living on the periphery.

Although not mentioned by name in the treaty, two-thirds of the Black Hills—including the forested gulch and creek that would give Deadwood its name—fell inside the boundaries of the Great Sioux Reservation; the western third rested within unceded Indian territory. The government had effectively acknowledged Lakota possession of the Pahá Sápa in perpetuity.4

That sat poorly with the Crows, who were American allies, and with other Plains Indians whom the Lakotas had muscled out of the Black Hills. Their displeasure was understandable. The Lakotas were relative newcomers to the West. Members of the Sioux nation, they were formerly a woodlands people of the upper Midwest. As it shifted westward in the eighteenth century, the Sioux nation separated into three divisions: the Dakotas, who clung to the Minnesota River; the Nakotas, who settled east of the Missouri River; and the Lakotas, who wrestled their way onto the Northern Plains. The Lakotas were the true horse-and-buffalo Sioux of popular imagination, and they constituted nearly half of the Sioux nation. The Lakotas in turn divided into seven tribes, or “council fires”: the Oglalas, Brulés, Miniconjous, Two Kettles, Hunkpapas, Blackfeet, and Sans Arcs, of which the Oglalas and the Brulés were the largest. In fact, these two tribes outnumbered all the non-Lakota Indians on the Northern Plains.5

In their march across present-day Nebraska and the Dakotas, the Lakotas allied themselves with the Cheyennes and Arapahos, who had been pushed onto the Northern Plains ahead of the Lakotas and had forged an enduring bond. Not until the 1770s did the Lakotas penetrate the Black Hills, and at least fifty years would pass before they dominated the lush, mountainous island, surrounded by a dry sea of prairie, that they would call “the heart of everything that is.” The Northern Cheyennes and Arapahos came to depend on Lakota generosity and intermarriage to enjoy access to the Pahá Sápa, portions of which had once also been theirs.6

What made the Pahá Sápa so dear to the Lakotas, and so central to the young Black Elk’s vision? To begin with, the sheer physical magnificence of the place inspired awe. With an average elevation of more than a mile above sea level, the Black Hills tower four thousand feet above the harsh and dreary alkaline prairie. Embracing 5,000 square miles—125 miles from north to south and 60 miles in width—the Hills suggest secrecy, riches, and adventure. Ponderosa pines blanket the hills. Viewed from afar, they appear unnaturally dark, thus the Lakota name, the “Hills That Are Black.” The twin branches of the Cheyenne River—the fast-flowing Belle Fourche on the north, and the sluggish and muddy South Fork to the south—cradle the Black Hills.

The rugged oasis embraced a breathtaking assortment of granite and sandstone pinnacles and peaks, ridges and buttes, green meadows, dark gulches, dense forests, and mineral-laden streams. Deer and elk abounded. So too did animals of prey, among them the panther, timber wolf, and grizzly bear. Large patches of wild fruit dotted the landscape. Towering above the high plains, the Black Hills drew rain and lightning from the sky, creating a lush and uniquely fertile island. Violent storms frequently gathered above the Black Hills and remained there while the surrounding prairie and Badlands begged for water. Such a phenomenon, the Lakotas reasoned, surely must be the work of Wakan Tanka and the Six Grandfathers.

Absent Lakota written records, for the most part we are left to contemplate the Black Hills as wasichu interlopers perceived them. “On entering them,” wrote a white sojourner, “the mind is filled with wonder and amazement as it contemplates these mighty upheavals. But what is more pleasing to the eye than all else pertaining to the Hills, especially after having spent several days upon the open plains, are the beautiful pine forests that greet you on all sides.” A prominent Deadwood settler called the Black Hills “a natural playground and sanitarium. It is the land of balm to the sleepless; of strength to the feeble, of rest to the weary, and of joy to all.” A welltraveled army officer agreed, marveling at “air so pure and bracing that perhaps no more salubrious locality can be found in the United States.”7

For the Lakotas, the Pahá Sápa offered more than natural wonder and restorative potential. It was both a shrine and a source of supply; a place of unsurpassed spiritual power and material wealth. Because the Lakotas believed all places were infused with varying degrees of divinity, it was easy for them to transfer their mystic “center of the world” from the confluence of the Wisconsin and Mississippi Rivers to the Pahá Sápa. Old myths found a new locale, and new legends were created to reflect the unique character of the conquered country. During the first decades that they occupied the Black Hills, the Lakotas, as well as the occasional whites who passed near, allegedly heard eerie explosions resembling the report of artillery emanating from the mountain recesses. These strange, unexplained phenomena, which ceased after 1830, the Lakotas attributed to the moaning of a great white giant entombed beneath the Pahá Sápa’s darkest defiles.8

The most important sacred site that the Lakotas associated with the Pahá Sápa is a small aperture in a ravine on its southeastern fringe. From it blows a cool, sharp, and steady breeze. When or how the Lakotas discovered this entry into the caverns beneath the Black Hills is unknown. Wind Cave, or Maka Oniye, the place of the “breathing earth,” nevertheless became the source of the Lakota emergence story. It was both a portal to the spirit world and the place from which the Lakotas believed that they and the four-legged beasts, foremost of which was the bison, first set foot aboveground.

When man and beast emerged, they held a race to decide which species would have the right to feed on the other. The ancestral Lakotas triumphed. The contestants beat a two-mile-wide path between the lower reaches of the Pahá Sápa and a steep, elliptical hogback. The Lakotas named the trodden soil the Race Track, or Kin Inyanka Ochanku. The valley still bears that name.

To the east of Wind Cave lies the third great landmark of the Lakotas, a place known later to whites as Buffalo Gap. Through it half a century after the Lakotas claimed the place would pour thousands destined for Deadwood. As with Wind Cave and the Race Track, the Lakota fashioned a legend to explain this entrance into the Pahá Sápa. In primordial times, no such spot existed. But when fabled herds of hungry and thirsty bison emerged from Wind Cave, they thundered toward the cool waters and rich grasses of the Pahá Sápa, their hooves pounding out the gorge.9

The Pahá Sápa also became central to the Lakota cosmology as a place where young Lakota warriors sought and received the powerful visions that would guide their lives, among the most profound of which was Black Elk’s dream.10

In the 1870s, white trespassers would contend that the Lakotas had never lived in the Black Hills. Violent thunderstorms discouraged the Lakotas from staying long, so the argument went. “These Hills were never the abode of Indians, but have always been regarded by them with superstitious reverence,” averred a surveyor. “Occasional trips were made to the mountains in search of lodge poles, but the storms which rage over the Hills in springtime, accompanied by vivid flashes of lightning and continuous crashing of thunder, made it evident to the Indians that this was the haunt of the evil one, and they have kept out of his reach.”

Storms in the Hills were indeed frequent, and flash flooding could convert dry gulches into roiling rivers that drowned the unwary. Recalling the “most terrific thunderstorm” he ever experienced, an early Deadwoodite wrote that “for a quarter of an hour the atmosphere appeared to be in one continuous blaze with electric charges, fierce bolts of lightning descended on all sides, while the concussions which followed in rapid succession fairly shook the mountains to their foundations. No wonder the Indians have a superstitious dread of the electrical phenomena of the Black Hills.”11

The Lakotas indeed dreaded the storms, which they believed reflected the anger of the malevolent Thunder Beings of the West. Fear made them cautious, but it did not keep them from long stays in the Pahá Sápa. Oglala bands regularly wintered along the Race Track or in Buffalo Gap. They and other Lakotas ventured deeper into the Pahá Sápa in both the fall and the winter to gather the abundant wild fruits, tubers, seeds, and pods that added variety and necessary carbohydrates to their diets, and to hunt deer and elk. They also camped in the higher elevations in the spring and summer. When the bison herds drifted away from the Race Track in the 1860s, fewer Lakotas frequented the Hills, but they cherished the Pahá Sápa no less. “[When] I was about fifteen years old I heard Sitting Bull say that the Black Hills was just like a food pack and therefore the Indians should stick to it,” recollected a Lakota chief. “I knew what he meant because I knew that the Black Hills were full of fish, animals, and lots of water, and I just felt that we Indians should stick to it. Indians would rove all around, but when they were in need of something, they could just go there and get it.” Self-serving twaddle to the contrary might ease the consciences of acquisitive whites but had scant basis in fact. Bishop William Hare, a fast friend of the Lakotas’, offered an apt analogy. The Lakotas’ attachment to the Black Hills “is a passion,” he wrote. “And well it may be, for this district is the kernel of their nut, the yolk of their egg.”12

But the yolk contained a contaminant: mázaska. The Lakotas picked up nuggets in streams. “Our people knew there was yellow metal in little chunks up there,” said Black Elk, “but they did not bother with it because it was not good for anything.” Late in life, Red Cloud confessed that his people had known of gold in the Black Hills as early as 1800. Two decades afterward, injudicious warriors traded nuggets for merchandise at Fort Laramie until Father Pierre-Jean De Smet, a Jesuit missionary whom the Lakotas revered, admonished the Lakotas to keep knowledge of Black Hills gold to themselves; otherwise, he said, the whites were sure to take both the gold and their country. Lakota chiefs heeded his warning. In 1857, at a grand council, they decreed that any Indian who gave gold from the Pahá Sápa to the wasichu, or told them where to find it, should be put to death. The Lakotas and their allies largely adhered to the law, but the damage had been done.13

Rumors of Black Hills gold swirled through the Dakota Territory, which extended only as far west as the Missouri River in the 1860s—tales fueled not only by earlier Indian indiscretions but also by the speculations of army explorers and geologists who skirted the Black Hills before the Civil War. Then too there were stories of white prospecting parties that had entered the Hills, never to return.14

One who did live to tell his tale was the famed mountain man Jim Bridger, who wandered into the Black Hills while with a military survey and saw gold shimmering in the mountain streams. French-Canadian trappers on friendly terms with the Lakotas also whispered tales of gold in the Black Hills. A greedy Lakota chief nearly lost his life when he offered to lead a party of prospectors from a Dakota Territory fort to a Black Hills gold deposit. Forced to abandon the scheme by Lakotas who threatened to kill him, the chief nonetheless sneaked back to the site and returned with a cupful of gold dust—a mix of fine particles, pellets, and flakes—that assayers pronounced to be “as fine quality and as clean as any dust ever discovered.” An Indian agent boasted that warriors would frequently bring him gold dust from the Hills, with a seemingly incongruous warning that any white man who dared to set foot in the Pahá Sápa would forfeit his scalp.15

Some of these stories might have been apocryphal. No one, however, doubted Father De Smet when he occasionally let slip to friends, army officers, or other apparently well-intentioned inquirers that the Black Hills contained gold deposits richer than those found in California. In an interview he granted when his steamboat docked at Sioux City, Iowa, in September 1871, the elderly De Smet misread the character of his questioner. The Catholic missionary spoke freely, and his indiscretion almost started the very sort of stampede to the Pahá Sápa he had hoped to prevent.

Father De Smet’s devious interlocutor was the thirty-two-year-old promoter, Irish revolutionary nationalist (Fenian), and editor of the Sioux City Daily Times, Charles Collins, as colorful a rogue as would ever cast a shadow in the Black Hills. Those who came to know him in Deadwood would describe Collins variously as “visionary,” “vigorous,” “irrepressible,” “waggish,” “caustic,” and “crazy.” A charitable chronicler called him “an Irishman of most undaunted courage and energy, not always practically applied, but possessed with an enthusiasm which never recognized defeat.”16

Armed with Father De Smet’s supposed confession that the Black Hills contained enough gold “to buy half the world,” Collins labored to open the treasure chest. Others had tried but failed to launch expeditions into the Hills. In the winter of 1869–70, Judge William L. Kuykendall organized the most notable effort. From his office in Cheyenne, Wyoming Territory, he advertised for gold seekers. Of the 2,000 who pledged to join him, only 130 showed up in Cheyenne in the spring of 1870 to march under the banner of his Black Hills and Big Horn Association. The fortune hunters had barely started before the Grant administration ordered the army to disperse Kuykendall’s legion. For the moment, the judge set aside his visions of mineral wealth and returned to the bench.17

Collins laid the groundwork for his enterprise more thoroughly. First, he published his interview with Father De Smet. Then Collins and several associates created the Black Hills Exploring and Mining Association. On March 1, 1872, they issued a circular bogusly claiming that gold “has positively been discovered in paying quantities in the Black Hills of Dakota,” which they intended to extract. Collins also sprinkled the columns of the Daily Times with similarly sensational fables of wonders and wealth that were reprinted nationwide. He persuaded an Iowa congressman to sponsor a bill to open the Black Hills, then testified before Congress on the measure, which would die on the House floor. He also badgered the secretary of the interior into writing a letter casting doubt on the “necessity” of the Black Hills to Lakota “happiness and prosperity.” Returning from Washington, D.C., Collins enrolled hundreds of recruits from Missouri River settlements for his expedition, which was set to start from Sioux City on September 1, 1872. The balloon burst, however, when the army department commander ordered that “any expedition organized for the purpose of penetrating the Black Hills be dispersed, the leaders arrested and placed in the nearest military prison.”18

For a time army roadblocks, the continued productivity of Montana and Colorado gold mines, and the general prosperity of the nation held Black Hills gold fever in check. A year after Black Elk’s Great Vision, however, an international economic crisis would upend the calculus.
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The New El Dorado

AFTER THE CIVIL WAR, the United States enjoyed a seven-year economic boom. Coal, iron, and steel production surged to levels that stunned European industrialists. Agriculture also prospered, and surplus American wheat fed foreign markets. The term “unemployment” had yet to enter the national lexicon.

In 1872, the horizon darkened. The Union Pacific Railroad—the juggernaut of western expansion—was caught selling stock in the Crédit Mobilier, a construction and finance company used to funnel profits to insiders and below-market shares to politicians. Monopolists flinched, and the railroad magnates trembled. The Grange, a farmers’ cooperative movement dedicated to combating monopolists, gained nearly a million members. Perhaps most significantly for the future of the Black Hills, in January 1873 Congress voted to demonetize silver. Bimetallism was over; the gold standard looked to triumph over greenbacks (the paper currency first issued in the Civil War). Unearthing new gold strikes gained urgency.

Storms also brewed on far shores. In May 1873 the stock exchange in Vienna, Austria, crashed. Unaware how closely American prosperity was tied to European economies, most Americans took little notice. Gold, however, was a yellow artery linking Vienna to London and ultimately to New York, Chicago, and the prairie beyond. European investors, once enamored of western railroads, began to curb their outlays.

On September 18, 1873, the credit bubble burst. Jay Cooke & Company, one of the nation’s leading banking firms, failed because the bond values of its principal client, the mismanaged Northern Pacific Railroad, had tumbled. Depositors rushed to withdraw savings. Two days later, the New York Stock Exchange closed for the first time in its history. The so-called Panic of 1873 ushered in a full-blown depression.

The effect was catastrophic. Railroads defaulted like falling dominoes. Farm prices plummeted. Industries closed down or slashed their workforces. In Philadelphia, twenty-five thousand factory workers were laid off in a single month. New York City had fifty-eight thousand destitute by December 1, 1873. A singular dullness enveloped cities and towns. Sellers lacked buyers, business confidence sank, and credit dried up. Houses and stores stood tenantless. It was as if the pulse of society had stopped beating. Americans coined a new meaning for an old word: “tramp.” It had meant a hike or, during the Civil War, a hard march. Now it meant someone with no visible means of support. Of this legion of drifters, a government bureaucrat wrote a few months into the depression, “Probably never in the history of the country has there been a time when so many of the working classes, skilled and unskilled, have been moving from place to place seeking employment that was not to be had.” These were the sorts of men, he might have added, who would welcome a western gold strike, and who in three years would come to populate Deadwood.1

The twelve thousand inhabitants of the Dakota Territory, most of whom congregated in the southeastern corner along the Missouri River between the capital city, Yankton, and Sioux City, Iowa, knew where that strike should be: in the Black Hills. They suffered not only from the economic shock of the Panic of 1873 but also from a cruel nature. Low produce prices made it hard for Dakota farmers to obtain credit to begin or expand farms. Repeated droughts withered crops. Locusts swarmed over the prairie like coal smoke from a steamer to ravage what the droughts missed. A lack of trees on the open prairie hindered building. Unreliable transportation—there were no railroads into the territory, and the sandbar- and snag-littered Missouri River was hard to navigate—also hindered settlement.

The Black Hills presumably offered not only gold but also a huge reservoir of timber. In 1873, the Dakota Territory legislative assembly demanded that Congress open the Hills because it was a safe haven for depredating bands of non-treaty Lakotas. The accusation was no mere hyperbole. Not having been a party to the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868, the non-treaty bands of Sitting Bull and Crazy Horse had no compunction about raiding the Crows, Pawnees, and Shoshones—tribes friendly to the United States—as well as white settlers who ventured too near Lakota land.2

The army leadership sympathized with the Dakota assembly. Commanding General of the Army William T. Sherman’s patience with the roaming Lakotas had worn thin. “Sooner or later,” he told Philip H. Sheridan, the commander of the Military Division of the Missouri, “these Sioux will have to be wiped out or made to stay just where they are put.” Neither general would have objected to an immediate showdown, but the Lakotas had yet to furnish sufficient provocation to convince the Grant administration that the time for war had come. Indeed, as General Sheridan confessed in his annual report for 1874, conditions in the Lakota country were “remarkably quiet.”

If he could not kill Lakotas, Sheridan could at least try to make them stay put, as Sherman had suggested. To check the reservation Indians, he established military posts near both the Red Cloud and the Spotted Tail Agencies. Protecting whites from non-treaty bands was more problematic. For that he would need to build a fort somewhere near the unceded Indian territory. The spot that Sheridan recommended, and that the War and Interior Departments approved, was the Black Hills.3

Sheridan turned to his fair-haired subordinate Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong Custer to outfit a Black Hills expedition from Fort Abraham Lincoln in the Dakota Territory. The impetuous thirty-four-year-old welcomed the assignment. Fortune had favored him with uncanny consistency. The so-called boy general of the Civil War reveled in duty that would place him in the public eye, and an exploration of the mysterious Black Hills certainly offered an opportunity to enhance his celebrity.

Although Custer did not expect the Lakotas to “strew flowers on our pathway,” he was not overly concerned; with his Seventh Cavalry, he boasted to a newspaperman, he could “whip all the Indians in the Northwest.” Nonetheless, Custer ordered his men not to provoke them. A discerning private soldier in the Seventh Cavalry interpreted that as subterfuge to disguise the great wrong they were committing. “The United States government,” lamented the trooper, “forgot its honor, forgot the sacred treaty, forgot its integrity, and ordered an expedition for the invasion of the Black Hills.”4

If the Lakotas chose to fight, the expedition appeared large enough to take care of itself. By the time the engineering detachments and civilian scientists arrived, Custer had assembled a command of 951 soldiers and teamsters, augmented by 61 Arikara scouts—blood enemies of the Lakotas; two veteran miners purportedly fitted out at Custer’s own expense; and three newspapermen.

Was the expedition a violation of the 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty provision that prohibited whites from entering the Great Sioux Reservation without Lakota permission? Had the expedition been staged solely to reconnoiter possible sites for a fort, it would have been legitimate under a clause that permitted military personnel discharging their duties to enter the reservation. But its unspoken ancillary purpose—to search for gold, which the presence of miners betrayed—clearly violated treaty terms.

On July 2, 1874, Custer’s expedition departed Fort Abraham Lincoln for the Dakota Badlands. Billows of white alkaline powder blinded the men, and blood from the cactus-torn fetlocks of cavalry mounts stained the trail. Occasional clusters of reservation warriors watched the plodding white caravan from a respectful distance; none, however, tried to impede Custer’s advance. Neither did the non-treaty Lakotas, who ranged well beyond his line of march on the far side of the Black Hills, hunting buffalo or battling the Crows.

As the dusty and begrimed bluecoats pierced the Black Hills, the weather cooled, the air cleared, and the expedition took on the aspect of an armed picnic. The march led through achingly beautiful green meadows—“parks” in western parlance—festooned with wildflowers. Custer, who had never seen such a profuse display of flowers, found it strange to “glance back at the advancing columns of cavalry and behold men with beautiful bouquets in their hand, while the head gear of their horses was decorated with wreaths of flowers fit to crown a queen of May.”

In late July, Custer’s two miners went to work along a narrow, rippling stream later named French Creek in a broad park eleven miles south of the fey peak of Black Elk’s vision and fifty miles south of the spot Deadwood would occupy. On August 2, the miners struck pay dirt. It wasn’t much, they told Custer, enough perhaps to yield $50 to $70 a day in gold to organized miners—scarcely worth the efforts of individual prospectors. The gold fever gripped the camp nevertheless. A perplexed Arikara scout—evidently unfamiliar with the effects mázaska had on whites—watched soldiers laugh, weep, toss hats in the air, and run about in circles. Perhaps, he told a soldier, the mountain spirits had made them all crazy. No, the trooper answered, nothing sacred had struck the soldiers, only visions of earthly wealth. For two days, the troopers panned for gold before Custer put a stop to it. A few glittering grains, no more than 2 or 3 cents’ worth of gold, were the richest take.5

The American people waited hopefully for news from the Black Hills. Mired in the depression, the country longed for a gold bonanza—the more so as production in the Montana and Colorado mines had waned. They didn’t get word of one from Custer, at least not at first. On August 7, 1874, one of his white scouts carried a field report to General Sheridan in which Custer lauded the logging and stock-raising potential of the Black Hills. Regarding gold, Custer was circumspect. The scout, however, delivered more than just Custer’s guarded assessment of the Black Hills’ gold wealth because newspapermen had prevailed upon him to file their dispatches for them. Most were measured in their reporting. But the fanciful scribbling of the Chicago Inter Ocean correspondent William E. Curtis, trumpeting “ten dollar diggins’” and “pay dirt from the grass roots down” along a belt thirty miles wide, created a frenzy. Drawing on the past, Curtis thought a mining rush both inevitable and beneficial to the nation. After quoting an old miner who observed, “Money is scarce, and the country needs gold,” Curtis wrote, “The sequence is obvious. There was a crisis in 1848–9; California was opened and helped us out. There was a crisis in 1857; in 1858 Colorado was opened and helped us out. There was a crisis in 1873, from the effects of which we have not yet recovered; the Black Hills will be opened and pull us through.”

Curtis’s prognosis thrilled those after a new start and quick wealth. Prospecting expeditions soon fitted out all along the frontier. Enterprising writers with more imagination than experience churned out guidebooks to the “new Eldorado,” and opportunistic merchants from Cheyenne, Wyoming Territory, to Sioux City, Iowa, and nearly every intermediate spot on the Union Pacific Railroad, stocked up on prospecting gear and provisions.

Before leaving the Black Hills, Custer did the Lakotas a spiritual indignity, likely without realizing it. He named the towering summit of Black Elk’s vision Harney Peak, in honor of General William Harney, who had slaughtered a village of Lakotas in the 1850s.

Custer returned to Fort Abraham Lincoln on August 31, having marched 1,025 miles. Before leaving the Black Hills, he conducted a perfunctory search for a place to build Sheridan’s fort but came up empty. No one outside the army cared.

The Lakotas had a name for the trail Custer had blazed through the Black Hills. They called it the Thieves’ Road.

Once back at Fort Abraham Lincoln, Custer came down with the gold fever. He declared not only that accounts of a bonanza in the Black Hills were true but that the prospects were even better than reported. While Custer’s proclamations enticed jobless men in the States and the itinerant miners wandering the West, General Sheridan tried to calm the hysteria. “The color of gold can be found almost anywhere in any of the now existing western territories,” he reminded a heedless nation, “but often its quantity is confined to a few particles which make the color.” Sheridan remained fixated on building a fort in or near the Black Hills, and—given the tenor of the times—the sooner the better.6
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CHARLIE COLLINS SPRANG into action. Four days before the Seventh Cavalry dismounted at Fort Abraham Lincoln, he hustled to Chicago to lay plans for an expedition even grander than that which the army had compelled him to abort two years earlier. William E. Curtis interviewed Collins for the Chicago Inter Ocean. He recorded the Irishman’s “frank, manly, and intelligent”—he should have added self-serving—appraisal of the riches of the Black Hills. Collins reiterated his conviction that the region represented the best gold country in the world. Already he had enrolled 227 men at Sioux City for an autumn expedition to the Hills, and he welcomed more recruits. For $110 a man, Collins promised to furnish interested parties with all the gear and arms they needed, together with an allowance of three hundred pounds of provisions or baggage, and see them safely from Chicago to Sioux City by train and then overland to Harney Peak. To a similar party then organizing in Yankton, local newspapers advertised an added essential: life insurance.7

General Sheridan offered his own brand of insurance to those contemplating a journey to the Black Hills: guaranteed failure. “Should the companies now organized at Sioux City and Yankton trespass on the Sioux Indian Reservation,” he instructed his military department commanders, “you are hereby directed to use the force at your command to burn the wagon trains, destroy the outfits and arrest the leaders, confining them at the nearest military post in the Indian country. Should they succeed in reaching the interior, you are directed to send such force of cavalry in pursuit as will accomplish the purpose above named.”8

That sobering bit of news shut down the Yankton hopefuls and deterred all but a handful of the gold seekers gathered in Sioux City from sticking with Collins’s illegal enterprise. By October, only twenty-six men, one woman, and a boy remained. Between them they had six wagons drawn by fifteen yoke of oxen, six saddle horses, two greyhounds, and a donkey. To disguise their destination, on the lead wagon they scratched in charcoal the words “O’Neill’s Colony,” a settlement in westernmost Nebraska.

On October 6, the neophyte gold hunters hitched up their wagons and edged west onto the prairie to test the truth of the “ten dollar diggins’” that purportedly lay nestled in the Black Hills five hundred miles distant. They were a diverse lot. A young Wisconsin farmer wanted to emulate the exploits of his father, who had taken part in the California gold rush. Such an adventure “had always been one of the greatest desires of my life.” David G. Tallent, a Sioux City attorney, joined up strictly for the gold. His slender, well-bred schoolteacher wife, Annie, came along, resigned to trudging behind a wagon day after day and then passing the winter in a stockade among two dozen men fated to situational celibacy. The Tallents’ nine-year-old son accompanied his parents. Eight Wisconsin lumberjacks threw in with the party, which ensured that members would at least have snug cabins, assuming they reached the Hills alive. The group also contained a like number of experienced miners. John Gordon, a wiry, dark-complexioned loudmouth of dictatorial pretensions whose boast of extensive frontier experience had won over Charlie Collins, led the group.

The members of the Gordon Party, as it came to be known, all shared a contempt for the federal laws that banned them from the Great Sioux Reservation, just as they scorned the rights of the Lakotas and the authority of the frontier army, whose duty it was to keep trespassers such as themselves from violating the Fort Laramie Treaty and perhaps provoking a war. “No one seemed to take into consideration the enormity of the trip,” confessed a member, an arrogance that he attributed to “dull, indifferent stupidity.”9

It took the Gordon Party three months to reach the Black Hills. Blind luck guided them because John Gordon’s knowledge of the country was, as Annie Tallent put it, vague and uncertain. His ignorance, along with an understandable wish to keep clear of the Indians and the army, added two hundred winding miles to the route. While on the trail, Gordon almost had his head blown off. His despotic nonsense became too much for one member of the party, who answered a peremptory order from Gordon with a resounding “Go to Hell!” Gordon called him a “son-of-a-bitch,” at which point the malcontent drew his revolver and fired at Gordon but missed. After someone disarmed his opponent, Gordon drew a knife and lunged at him. Cooler heads prevailed. The combatants were separated and both apologized after a fashion.

Annie Tallent witnessed another example of the folly of frontier novices. Every man carried a new Winchester rifle, a revolver, and enough ammunition to last for several months, if husbanded. Instead, the men wasted so many rounds on target practice that Tallent wondered whether there would be bullets enough left to kill Indians in case of conflict. Tempted though she was to object, Tallent held her tongue, as women were expected to do, and consoled herself with the thought that they might actually know what they were doing.

One man who evidently knew what he was doing became homesick and defected from the party before it passed the last Nebraska settlement. On December 1, another man died of dysentery brought on by the steady diet of baked beans, bread, and alkali water. The party paused a day on the cold prairie to bury him. “We dug down through the frozen ground six feet,” Ephraim Witcher said, “and after wrapping our deceased companion in blankets, we built a crib of heavy logs, laid his body in it, and then filled [it] up with the earth, capping off the grave by erecting over it a large wooden cross.”10

A week after they left the lonesome grave, the Gordon Party chanced upon Custer’s trail. They followed it into the Black Hills to “Custer Park.” Abundant prospecting holes told them they had reached the spot where Custer had found gold. There, a dozen miles south of Harney Peak, the Wisconsin lumberjacks began chopping wood for a stockade and six interior cabins beside the narrow, meandering French Creek.

They did a commendable job, all the while battling temperatures of between sixteen and twenty-four degrees below zero Fahrenheit. First the men warmed the earth with fires. Then they dug a trench and shoved thick pine logs upright into the ground to fashion a stockade eighty feet square. They added bastions that projected from the corners and completed the structure with a large double gate of hewn timber. Inside, they built six small, one-room cabins of unhewn logs. They made fireplaces from rocks and dried mud, and roofs from poles, packed earth, and hemlock boughs. An army officer who visited the site the following summer scorned the abandoned cabins as dark and filthy. In the still of the high-country winter nights, Annie Tallent was troubled more by fears that Indians lurked just beyond the stockade, waiting to rape and kill her, than she was by filth, or by having to share the family cabin with another man, who at least had the decency to drape a partition between apartments.11

In view of the cold, and with nearby gulches buried in snow and the ground in Custer Park frozen, the men were able to conduct only rudimentary placer mining, the practice of separating heavily eroded minerals like gold from sand or gravel, usually in stream-beds. Their tools were pans, shovels, and rocker boxes, the latter simple wooden contrivances used to sift gold from the gravel. The Gordon Party’s limited work sufficed, however, to satisfy them that unimaginable mineral wealth lay cradled within Custer Park. Huddled in their cabins, they wrote letters calculated to touch off a gold rush from which they intended to profit. “The miners estimate that, with sluices, from $10 to $25 per man could easily be made here,” read one letter. “In this valley alone there is enough room for claims for two thousand miners.” Said another, “I think that I have struck the country that I have been hunting for to make my fortune in. It is a splendid country, and there is no doubt but there is millions in gold here.” “You have my pledged word that the country is rich in gold and silver,” wrote a third man. “They are making three ounces per day to the man ten yards from the stockade with an apology for a rocker.”

Expecting a gold rush after their letters circulated and the snow melted, the Gordon Party staked out 160 acres of land for a town-site three miles west of the stockade. The men also composed mining regulations for the district. Today the regulations reside in the archives of Deadwood History Inc., still smelling faintly of the smoke from the crude fireplaces by which they were written.12

It remained only for someone to undertake the “dangerous journey back to civilization over a bleak prairie in the dead of winter to bear the glad tidings,” Annie Tallent would recall twenty-five years later in her classic The Black Hills; or, The Last Hunting Ground of the Dakotahs. John Gordon and Ephraim Witcher volunteered. Their pockets stuffed with letters and gold samples, the men set out on horseback on February 6, 1875. Twenty-four days later they stumbled into Yankton, hungry and half-frozen. Charlie Collins hastened to the territorial capital to interview Witcher. After telegraphing the story nationwide, he escorted Gordon and Witcher to Sioux City, where a boisterous welcome and parade awaited them, and from there to Chicago to secure more press play.

The effect of their tidings was electric, painting a bull’s-eye over the heart of the Pahá Sápa. “The enthusiasm with which they were received with their story of the successful result of the gold-hunting expedition cannot be fully described,” thrilled an early Deadwood booster. “The smoldering embers were fanned into flames, and ‘Ho! for the Black Hills!’ became the watchword everywhere.”13

Meanwhile, the occupants of the Gordon Stockade fed their fireplaces and hoped for relief parties. Provisions were running low, and spirits sagged. Shortly after Gordon and Witcher departed, two more men, who had seen enough of pioneer life, shouldered their rifles and struck out for Fort Laramie with provisions packed on a sled. In mid-March, four others started for the post on foot. They hoped to entice more pilgrims into the Hills before the spring thaw brought down hostile Lakotas on the tiny band in the Gordon Stockade.

Weeks passed, and the specter of an Indian attack frightened everyone. Finally, from out of a howling snowstorm on the night of April 4, four horsemen emerged wearing army blue, the vanguard of a cavalry patrol under Captain John Mix dispatched to eject the Gordon Party from the Black Hills. Given just twenty-four hours to pack up their goods and gather their stock, the trespassers were removed to Fort Laramie. Annie Tallent left the stockade in a jolting, springless army ambulance. Already she and her husband, together with most of their fellow trespassers on Indian land, were scheming to return to the diggings.14
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No Sale

CAPTAIN MIX’S PATROL was not the first unit sent to expel the Gordon Party. The army wanted them out of the Black Hills before Lakota warriors from the Red Cloud and Spotted Tail Agencies, who had made known their anger at the intrusion, attempted the job themselves.

The reservation Lakotas showed remarkable restraint, and the roaming bands were busy fighting the Crows. Several dozen warriors under Chief Spotted Tail guided a cavalry detachment into the Black Hills in early December 1874 but lost the trail of the Gordon Party amid the granite pinnacles surrounding Harney Peak; low rations compelled them to turn back. When a column under Captain Guy Henry set out from Camp Robinson in late December 1874 to find the white renegades, Red Cloud and his fellow chiefs asked only for any horses that the cavalrymen might seize. Henry’s command came to grief. South of the Hills they ran into a blinding blizzard. Temperatures dropped to fifty below zero Fahrenheit, and almost every trooper returned to Camp Robinson frostbitten. None died, but that near disaster forestalled further searches until Captain Mix’s April foray.1

With the advent of spring in 1875, the army prepared to resist the impending tide of gold seekers. General Sherman would tolerate no dissent on the subject. The Black Hills, he told a reporter, belonged to the Lakotas. Gold seekers had “no more right to invade this territory than they have to descend upon the property of you or me, and carry off what they find of value.” Warming to the subject, Sherman continued, “Frontier people complain of Indian raids, yet in this case do not seem to see the injustice of their own act, which is modeled after the Indian mode of acquiring property, over which they feel so aggrieved.”2

Phil Sheridan felt “quite certain of our ability to prevent intended trespass on the rights of the Indians. We can occupy two or three gaps in the Black Hills and effectively exclude trespassers.” Commanders on the ground had their doubts, however. Mining expeditions were fitting out across the nation. Sioux City and Yankton on the Missouri River competed with Sidney, Nebraska, and Cheyenne, Wyoming Territory, on the line of the Union Pacific as “ports of departure.” Each place boasted of the cheapest provisions and easiest route to the land of gold.

To safeguard all possible avenues into the Black Hills, the army had only forty-five hundred troops in the region, spread among eight forts and several Indian agencies. District commanders improvised. One employed Lakota runners to give notice of white trespassers on the Great Sioux Reservation. Another raised a company of fifty Lakota scouts from the Spotted Tail Agency, armed and paid as regular soldiers. Would such stopgaps prove sufficient? The commander of the District of the Black Hills thought not; without more cavalry, he felt helpless to prevent incursions from Sidney or Cheyenne.3

John Gordon disputed General Sherman’s declaration of Lakota rights. “It is the first time in the history of nations that a government did not encourage the development of its mineral resources,” sputtered Gordon. “But I am satisfied that people will go, and when they start, it will be like an avalanche, sweeping all before it. They will start from all directions at once and will simply take possession of that country and hold it too.”4

Hailed by fellow Iowans as the “Grant of the Black Hills,” Gordon was a scoundrel but also prescient. People were too desperate to be denied possible riches. Continuing drought and locust swarms crippled Dakota and Iowa agriculture. Some distressed settlers lived off army rations and surplus clothing. There were simply too many jobless wanderers, too many men hypnotized by gold, and too much ground to cover for the army to succeed. As a Chicago journalist put it, “At the news of gold every man who lacked fortune, and who would rather be scalped than remain poor, saw El Dorado.” An army patrol intercepted Gordon’s second expedition in May, destroying most of its wagons, guns, and ammunition and imprisoning Gordon himself for three months. Nevertheless, by late summer 1875 the southern Black Hills swarmed with at least eight hundred miners, two-thirds of whom were concentrated within a half-dozen-mile radius of the former Gordon Stockade. Deadwood Gulch lay still and undisturbed fifty miles to the north, country as yet undiscovered by the whites.5

Those who reached the southern Hills spoke of dangers and hardship. The thirty-one-year-old East Tennessee native Jesse Brown, later a keen chronicler of early Deadwood, was working as a freighter in Sidney, Nebraska, when the gold fever seized him. Brown’s parents had encouraged him to go north when the Civil War broke out, and the youthful Brown had found employment “whacking bulls” (managing freight-wagon teams), first in Iowa and then in Nebraska. One day in June 1875, a fellow “bullwhacker” told him that a prospecting party was organizing in their camp; Brown might throw in with them, so long as he kept things on the q.t.

Brown joined up. His eleven companions impressed him. They “were a formidable bunch, all old timers, acquainted with hardships, of great endurance, and ready for anything they might come up against.” Before the party set out, every man signed a pledge that anyone who got “cold feet” must forfeit his horse, gun, ammunition, and provisions; in other words, he would be left defenseless on the prairie.

The party started north on horseback, negotiating sagebrush-laced ravines, prairie-dog towns, and the occasional rattlesnake before striking the North Platte River. They had hoped to ford it far from Fort Laramie, but rainstorms had turned the river into a torrent. They cut a deal with a ferryman near the fort to take them across in the dead of night. Fifty miles north of the river, they spotted Indians, probably an Oglala war party who had ambushed and killed five pilgrims a few days earlier.

Brown and his “pards” tried to slip away after nightfall. No sooner had they made camp and staked out their horses, however, than the warriors burst on them whooping and yelling. A few shots from two of the men standing sentinel and armed with repeating rifles sent the Indians scurrying to the far side of a low hill. In the gray dawn, the whites sneaked behind the Oglalas, who vanished, forfeiting several ponies to the wasichu.

The next mishap occurred a few days later. During a deer hunt, a man named Jenkins went missing. Brown and the others scoured the prairie, firing their rifles as they rode, but found no sign of him. Regretfully the party completed the journey, entering the Black Hills by way of Buffalo Gap and erecting a log cabin on French Creek four or five miles west of the Gordon Stockade site. Small Lakota war parties prowled the Hills, occasionally firing into their camp. Half the men stood guard, while the remainder prospected with pans and rockers. After three weeks, the group ran low on provisions. Two men were elected to go to the Red Cloud Agency to buy coffee, bacon, and flour. When about a dozen miles beyond Buffalo Gap, they spotted someone crouching in a cluster of bushes. It was Jenkins. He had subsisted on turtle doves and rabbits, which he had killed with stones, not firing his rifle for fear of attracting Indians. Once ensconced in camp, Jenkins refused to go hunting again.6

Most miners in Custer Park felt prospecting a bust. “We have found gold in almost every place that we dug but not in paying quantities as yet,” wrote one homesick greenhorn. “I am inclined to think that it does exist in paying quantities somewhere in the Hills,” but he was not going to stick around to find out. The lack of gulches and rapid running water, as well as an absence of sawmills to fashion sluices (long, narrow boxes joined together on a downward slope, in which rushing water yielded gold), compelled most miners to squat in French Creek with their pans, or to dig simple prospecting holes that seldom reached bedrock. Experienced miners estimated potential yields of between 75 cents and $1 to a pan, or perhaps $3 to $5 a day per man in “gulch diggings.” Some of those who ventured north twenty miles or more from Custer Park developed “pay streaks” that offered the potential of $10 to $20 a day in earnings. A considerable sum during the depression, it represented from $300 to $600 in 2024 currency. Had they traveled another thirty miles farther north, they might have discovered a fortune in the two mountain creeks that would between them cradle the town of Deadwood. Withal, as one old-timer observed, there was “too much excitement and ‘horseback’ prospecting” to get a firm fix on the gold resources.7

Those hopeful of Custer Park’s mining potential also speculated in real estate. Within weeks, the 160 acres that the Gordon Party had staked out west of their stockade became home to long rows of tents, log cabins, and rickety shops extending half a mile across the grassy valley. Newcomers vied with one another to buy town lots. When it came to naming the new settlement, northerners squared off against southerners. The former, who were more numerous, wanted to call the place Custer City; the latter were unanimous on Stonewall as the proper name. After heated debate but no bloodshed, a vote was held, and the town christened Custer City.8
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TO LEARN THE TRUE mineral wealth of the Black Hills, and also provide a base value for negotiating their purchase or lease from the Lakotas, in June 1875 the Grant administration dispatched a scientific expedition under the twenty-six-year-old professor Walter P. Jenney. A recent mining school graduate, Jenney was in far over his head. A strong military escort accompanied the “very weak and very jealous” young academic, who, contrary to federal policy, permitted two hundred civilian miners from Custer City to tag along, the implicit message being once you passed the blue cordon around the Black Hills, you were home free.

Those captured need not worry either. In response to a lawsuit brought by John Gordon and Charlie Collins, federal territorial judges decreed that the military had no power of detention beyond transporting offenders to the nearest military post, after which they must be turned over to civil authorities, who invariably released them. “I have been captured and sent out from the Hills four times,” boasted one interloper. “I give the troops more trouble in catching me each time, and I guess I can stand it as long as they can.”9

Professor Jenney spent three months in the southern and central Black Hills. His expedition traveled no nearer than fifteen miles from the future site of Deadwood, which meant that the deep, stream-cut gulches in its vicinity went unexplored. Jenney’s findings were mixed. While he had seen no gravel deposits rich enough to be worked profitably with pan or rocker, Jenney thought that with proper sluices and a moderate injection of capital the streams north of Harney Peak might yield a good return of “flake and shot gold” (tiny gold particles and pellets). Jenney thought the Black Hills would make excellent cattle country, however. So too did the commander of his military escort, Colonel Richard I. Dodge, a veteran of the western frontier. “The country we are in is a perfectly magnificent one,” he wrote. “The timber is excellent, grass most rich and luxuriant.” No friend of the Indian, Dodge advanced the fiction, both in his private journal and in a book on the Black Hills published in 1876, that the Black Hills were of no account to the Lakotas or their allies. “The absurdity of turning over such a country to miserable nomads is too manifest for discussion. Besides, the Indians don’t want it. They never use it.” What’s more, asserted Dodge, “all the power of the Administration cannot keep this country in possession of the Indians, and I confess my sympathies are all with the miner and settler.”10

Assuming it wanted to placate the Lakotas, which was debatable, the Grant administration had fumbled badly. Jenney’s guarded appraisal of the region’s gold potential, which reporters exaggerated, attracted more whites to the Black Hills. Small teams of miners already in the Hills groped northward from Custer City.11

The Lakotas watched the wasichu tentacles unwind deeper into the Pahá Sápa. Their fury grew apace. For the most part, the reservation Indians contented themselves with turning back pilgrims on the prairie. But there were limits to their forbearance. “Look at me!” exploded Red Cloud to a visiting Indian Bureau official. “I am no Dog. I am a man. This is my ground, and I am sitting on it. You tell me about the Great Father’s troops. He has troops all over the world, and I do not believe that the Great Father has not troops enough to keep white men away from the Black Hills.” Chief Spotted Tail offered a more temperate but equally concerned take on the subject. Colonel Dodge had invited him not only to visit the mining operations around Custer City but also to address a mass meeting of miners. He scolded them for invading the Pahá Sápa and suggested that they pay the Lakotas for the damage they had wrought. The intruders chuckled. “White men laugh while I talk,” Spotted Tail told a newspaperman. “If a squaw did that while a white man were talking in my camp, she would be whipped.”

Spotted Tail spoke amiably but frankly with the journalist. “We are wronged. The Great Father’s promises are broken. This land is not bought yet. It belongs to us still.”

“How much will the Indians ask for the Hills?”

Spotted Tail smiled and said, “A great deal.”

“Will there be a war with the northern Indians?”

“I can’t tell anything about it,” mused the Brulé chief. “I don’t want to go to war on either side. I want to be at peace. The Indians are all angry. Their hearts are bad because the miners are in this country.”12
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OUT IN THE POWDER RIVER country, at the annual council of the non-treaty Lakotas, young Black Elk and his father listened to Chief Sitting Bull rage against the wasichu incursion into the Pahá Sápa. The Northern Cheyennes also attended; they too abhorred the notion of losing the Black Hills.

Sitting Bull told his listeners that to survive, they must keep the Pahá Sápa. It was “just like a food pack, and therefore the Indians should stick to it.” To Black Elk, the apocalypse foretold in his vision appeared near. “Hear me, my people,” cried Sitting Bull. “We have now to deal with another race. The enemy was small and feeble when our fathers first met them, but now great and overbearing.” They claimed the earth, only to defile it. “That nation is like a spring freshet that overruns its banks and destroys all who are in its path.” Coexistence was impossible. “Only seven years ago we made a treaty by which we were assured that the buffalo country should be left to us forever. Now they threaten to take that from us. My brothers, shall we submit, or shall we say to them: ‘First kill me before you take possession of my fatherland!’” Sitting Bull stopped short of calling for war. Perhaps the wasichu might yet come to their senses.13

On the contrary, even before Professor Jenney set foot in the Black Hills, the Great Father took the first steps toward depriving the Lakotas of them. For several months, Red Cloud had agitated for a meeting with President Grant to demand a new agent, alleging that the incumbent shortchanged the Oglalas on rations and annuity goods. In May 1875, the Bureau of Indian Affairs granted Red Cloud’s request, but not for the purpose the Oglala chief intended. That all was not as it seemed became apparent when the Lakota delegation traveling to Washington, which included Red Cloud’s rival Spotted Tail, crossed paths with Jenney’s party en route to the Black Hills.

Nothing in Washington went Red Cloud’s or Spotted Tail’s way. The Great Father had no ear to lend to Lakota grievances. Instead, President Grant told the chiefs to ponder a few unpleasant truths. First, the government’s 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty obligation to issue rations had run out and could be revoked; rations continued only because of the administration’s kind feelings toward the Lakotas. Government rations assumed greater importance in 1875 than they had when the Lakotas acceded to the Fort Laramie Treaty. The great northern buffalo herd was diminishing, a consequence of both white and Indian overhunting, and the Northern Plains had suffered several unusually harsh winters, during which hunters were unable to supplement their stores of buffalo meat.

The Great Father told the chiefs that he was powerless to prevent miners from overrunning the Black Hills. Consequently, the Lakotas must either cede them or risk losing their rations. Grant even suggested they vacate the Great Sioux Reservation altogether and move to Indian Territory (present-day Oklahoma).

Red Cloud and the other Lakota chiefs left the White House “all at sea.” For three weeks they alternated between discordant encounters with bureaucrats and bleak hotel caucuses among themselves. One disconsolate chief contemplated suicide. At last, the chiefs broke off the talks and returned to the reservation “disgusted and unconciliated.”14

After the Lakotas left, President Grant tried again to acquire the Black Hills. He directed the Indian Bureau to appoint a commission to hold a grand council with the chiefs at a place of the Lakotas’ choosing on the Great Sioux Reservation. The purpose: to buy mining rights to the Black Hills, as well as “such other rights as could be secured and as might be thought desirable for the Government.” The commissioners were to attempt reconciliation, but they were also told to remind the chiefs that the government was no longer obliged to feed their people, the implication being that the rations would cease if the Lakotas refused to come to terms.15

As a conciliatory gesture, Grant directed the army to expel all miners from the Black Hills before the commissioners met with the Lakota chiefs. That unenviable task fell to Brigadier General George Crook, the newly appointed commander of the Department of the Platte, which encompassed the Wyoming approaches to the Black Hills. The forty-six-year-old Ohioan was something of a cipher. Independent-minded, stubborn, and hermetic, Crook seemed to delight in sparring with senior officers. He loved backwoods life, being “more of an Indian than the Indian himself,” a staff officer said. There was certainly little military in his appearance. He sported enormous blond muttonchops joined by a scraggly chin beard. On campaign, Crook braided his whiskers and tucked them into his blouse. In the field, he seldom wore a uniform. At West Point, Crook had shown little promise, graduating near the bottom of his class. In the Civil War, however, he came into his own, rising from captain to major general of volunteers. Already in the postwar West he had proven a dependable campaigner, subjugating recalcitrant tribes in the Pacific Northwest and then humbling the Apaches in Arizona.16

Crook’s sympathies rested with the miners. Pitching camp near Harney Peak, he issued a proclamation requiring “every miner or unauthorized person” to leave the Black Hills by August 15 and had copies of it plastered on trees and boulders throughout the placer diggings. As the trespassers pulled up stakes, Crook suggested they record their claims before the country opened up, which he expected would occur after the commissioners met with the chiefs in September. Amid general guffawing, most of the miners did as Crook suggested and then scattered to Cheyenne, Sidney, and other staging areas to await the voiding of the Lakota title. Before quitting Custer City, they thanked the general by naming its grassy main thoroughfare Crook Street. Crook, in turn, rewarded their compliance by permitting a small group of miners to remain at Custer City to guard the buildings, claims, and heavier personal property.

Clad in a canvas suit with no insignia of military rank and sporting a pith helmet, Crook strolled among the miners before they left. He won friends at every turn. Pausing beside one man hunched over the bank of French Creek, Crook asked, “How does it prospect?”

Taking the oddly customed Crook for a tenderfoot, the miner replied, “First rate,” while methodically swirling his prospecting pan and occasionally patting the vials of gold grains in his pockets.

Curious to see where he stood with the miners, Crook commented, “I understand General Crook is coming to round the miners all up and take them out of the Hills.”

“Damn Crook, he can’t take me out!” retorted the miner. At that moment someone appeared who, recognizing Crook, addressed him by name. The miner stood up. “Hell, I’ve been talking to the general for half an hour and don’t know him.” Both he and the general enjoyed a good laugh, and Crook wandered off to make new acquaintances.17

Crook felt certain that the Lakotas would be dealt with to the miners’ satisfaction. Not that the Lakotas had given the government any cause to strong-arm them. “How do the bands that sometimes roam off from the agencies on the plains heave now?” a reporter asked Crook while he was in the Black Hills.

“Well,” he confessed, “they are quiet.”

“Do you perceive any immediate danger of an Indian war?” the reporter persisted.

“Not just now,” answered Crook. “There is undoubtedly to be a great fight yet. The government has to whip the Sioux. The sooner it is done the better.”18
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IT WAS A RATHER SORRY assemblage the government sent to negotiate so sensitive a matter as the future of the Pahá Sápa. Senator William B. Allison of Iowa chaired the nine-member commission, his sole qualification being loyalty to the Grant administration. Only the erudite and introspective brigadier general Alfred H. Terry, commander of the Department of Dakota, knew the Lakotas, and he had no stomach for coercing them into ceding the Black Hills. Why not, he suggested, encourage them to farm and raise livestock in the Hills? No one in the army high command listened.

The Allison commission arrived at the Red Cloud Agency in September to find the reservation chiefs no more pliable than they had been in Washington. Emissaries from Sitting Bull’s and Crazy Horse’s villages attended the council—not to negotiate, but rather to threaten with death any chief who yielded.19

Chairman Allison botched the negotiations from the outset. Pleading that it was impossible to keep whites out of the Black Hills, he said that the government only wanted the Lakotas to permit mining until gold and precious metal stocks were exhausted, after which the country would revert to the Indians. (The senator neglected to explain how the government would evict the whites.)

The chiefs responded with rare unanimity. They would sell the Pahá Sápa on the condition that the government pay enough to sustain their people for seven generations to come; Spotted Tail thought $60 million (the equivalent of $1.7 billion in 2024) a fair price. The commission had been authorized to offer less than a tenth that amount. The talks sputtered and died, and the commissioners departed, incensed that an offer they considered “ample and liberal” had met with “derisive laughter from the Indians as inadequate.” Only one option remained. Congress should fix a price for the Black Hills and insist the Indians accept it. If they refused, Senator Allison concluded, then they should be starved into submission.20

President Grant had a still more radical solution to the Black Hills problem in mind: war. There was no reasonable excuse for it. For all their threats and blusters in council, the non-treaty Lakotas had deployed remarkable restraint. With the exception of a handful of Lakota horse-stealing raids near Bozeman, Montana Territory, the army reported no hostile encounters on the Northern Plains during 1875. The western press contained no stories of Indian depredations. And white travelers to the Black Hills for the most part found the Lakotas docile.

Grant, however, faced an insoluble dilemma. On the one hand, clamor for annexing the Black Hills was growing, and not merely in the West. A nation mired in an ongoing economic depression demanded that the Hills be opened. On the other hand, treaty obligations and sheer morality compelled the administration to defend Lakota rights. In effect, Grant was forced to choose between the electorate and the Indians. Although a lame-duck president, for the sake of his party and national prosperity, he yielded to the former.

On November 3, Grant held a secret meeting in the White House with four like-minded men—Generals Sheridan and Crook and the secretaries of war and the interior—to map out a strategy. Together they would fashion the most egregious treachery the government ever contemplated against the Plains Indians.

The conferees agreed on a two-phase war plan. First, keep but do not enforce the no-trespassing decree. If the Lakotas retaliated, so much the better. Hostilities would help legitimize the secret second phase of the operation. To wit, the non-treaty bands were given an impossibly short deadline to report to their agencies, the Indian Bureau was to fabricate complaints against them, and General Sheridan would prepare for a winter campaign against unsuspecting Lakota villages. The conspirators believed that intimidation by the non-treaty bands had dissuaded the agency chiefs from coming to terms with the Allison commission. Crush the non-treaty bands, their reasoning went, and the agency chiefs would yield.

On December 3, the secretary of the interior set the first phase of the scheme in motion. He directed the Indian Bureau to inform Sitting Bull and the other “hostile” chiefs that they had until January 31, 1876, to report to the agencies; otherwise, the army would march against them. Phil Sheridan was delighted. “The matter,” he mused, “will in all probability be regarded as a good joke by the Indians.”

All appeared ready to commence a war of naked aggression to seize the Pahá Sápa.21
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BLACK ELK WEPT. He and his father had attended the council with the wasichu commissioners. The youth understood only vaguely what transpired:


They talked and talked for days, but it was just like wind blowing in the end. I asked my father what they were talking about in there, and he told me that the Grandfather at Washington wanted to lease the Black Hills so that the wasichu could dig yellow metal, and that the chief of the soldiers had said if we did not do this, the Black Hills would be just like melting snow held in our hands because the wasichu would take that country away.

It made me sad to hear this. It was such a good place to play and the people were always happy in that country. And I thought of my vision, and of how the spirits took me there to the center of the world.22



After the Allison commission left, the miners returned to their claims in the center of the Lakota world unimpeded by the army. New mining parties flocked in behind them at the rate of fifty persons a day, mostly young men between twenty-one and thirty years old. Well-organized freight trains fitted out principally at Cheyenne and Sidney on the Union Pacific line also rolled into the southern Hills with much-needed provisions and mining equipment. Others drifted in from as far north as Bismarck. In Custer City, tents gave way to log cabins, with nearly one hundred built by year’s end. Cattle grazed on the rich bunchgrass. Four stores did a steady business in rubber boots for muddy placers, hardware, and guns. All told, thought the famous scout and frontier poet John W. “Captain Jack” Crawford, Custer City “was quite a town.” Boosters expected the population of Custer City to grow to at least five thousand come the spring of 1876. Many of the miners who had shifted northward congregated around a new settlement called Hill City, eighteen miles north of Custer City at the junction of two creeks that showed promise, and just forty-two miles south of the future Deadwood. Up went several dozen tents and cabins to compete with Custer City.

Winter set in, and subzero temperatures sent miners scurrying to cabin hearths, where they speculated on fortunes to be made when the ground thawed out. A hardy few ventured out to “rock for grub stakes” (earnings enough to buy meals) and open their claims so as to be ready for “dividends” in the spring. Some paid a high price for their industry; in January, nine miners were discovered frozen to death at their diggings.23

Optimism often outstripped reality. Charlie Collins, ever the huckster of dreams, sold his Sioux City Times, announcing, “I am now making the necessary arrangements to establish a pioneer newspaper printing office in the Black Hills gold fields, where with 100,000 pioneers I intend to celebrate the coming centennial Fourth of July.” Judge William L. Kuykendall of Cheyenne, who had tried to launch an expedition into the Black Hills in 1870, offered a more sober appraisal of mining prospects around Custer City. Arriving in early February 1876, he found that little had been done to discover the area’s true potential. “Gold here is in the ground and not on the surface ready for the scoop shovel. Hard work is necessary to find and extract it. Prospecting is in its infancy.” He also heard intriguing rumors of better prospects seventy miles to the north, at the confluence of two watercourses that enterprising miners had named Deadwood and Whitewood Creeks. Kuykendall returned to Cheyenne to await developments.24

Most of the thousand or more men—there was scarcely a woman to be seen—who populated Custer City, Hill City, and the innumerable mining camps scattered along streams in the central Hills were peaceable folk intent on making a good gold strike without prejudice to their neighbors. “Roughs and sharpers will have a hard road to travel if they come here expecting to reap a rich harvest, other than by the sweat of their brow,” Captain Jack Crawford told readers of the Omaha Daily Bee. “The miners say they will have no foolishness, and woe be to the wretches who may be deserving of their vengeance.”25

Crawford had too high an opinion of his fellow man. Sooner or later, the miners would need strong drink, gambling, and female companionship to make bearable the long winter nights. And with the national depression in full swing, there were more than the usual plentitude of frontier miscreants aching to find a crooked niche for themselves among the law-abiding citizens. In September, a Cheyenne daily had editorialized on the “many dangerous characters” that the “gold excitement” had enticed their way. While the Black Hills remained briefly closed, they made Cheyenne their headquarters. “They live by appropriating the property of our people, and if the [law] officers do not put a stop to this practice, a people’s committee will take the matter from their hands,” the newspaper warned. “A little hemp could be used to good advantage.”

After the army loosened its Black Hills cordon, the human scum slithered from Cheyenne and oozed through Red Canyon and Buffalo Gap to contaminate Custer City. A Black Hills booster lamented that the absence of law facilitated the influx of “some vicious characters—numbers of that class of desperate, disreputable men and women who never fail to hover around centers of excitement and who prefer the frontiers as the theater of their nefarious operations.” Four saloons arose overnight. They played host to prostitutes—“soiled doves” in western parlance—and alleged desperadoes with huge revolvers strapped to their hips and bloodcurdling nicknames like Red-Handed Mike and Arapaho Joe.

The unsavory lot also included a man who will loom large later in our story, one of the most coldhearted bastards ever to foul the Black Hills. His name was Al Swearingen.26
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